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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

JENNIFER SWEDA et al., : CIVIL ACTION
Plaintiffs, :
V.
THE UNIVERSITY OF : NO. 16-4329
PENNSYLVANIA and JACK HEUER,
Defendants.

MEMORANDUM

PRATTER, J. $PTEMBER21,2017

A group of University of Pennsylvania Matching Plan participants and loeareds bring
this ERISA action against the University of Pennsylvania and Jack HBeers Vice President
of Human Resource§he Plan participantallegethat Defendantenabledthird-party service
providers—here, TIAA-CREF and Vanguaréto collect excessive fees, increased costs by
including duplicative investments in thelan and retained underperforming funds in the Plan.
Plaintiffs claim this violated two provisions of titemployee Retirement Income Security Act,
29 U.S.C 8 1001et seq(*ERISA"). First, they claim dreach of fiduciary duties, in violation of
29 U.S.C.§ 1104a)(1) Counts I, Ill, Vand VII%). Second, they claim the contracts with TIAA
CREF and Vanguard werprohibited transactions, in violation of 29 U.S.€1106(a)(1)

(Counts II,1V and VI).

! Count VIl isstyledas*failure to monitor fiduciari€sin violation of 29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1given thathe
plaintiffs did not press this argument in their briefings, or dispute the defentantion that this wasmply
duplicative of the breach of fiduciary duty claimsudt VII will be treated as incporated into Gunts I, 111,
and V.
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The Penn parties urge dismissal of the complaint, arghatghe Third Circuit Court of
Appeals decision inRenfro v. Unisys Corp671 F.3d 314 (3d Cir. 2011), contr@isddemands
dismissalof the breach of fiduciary duties claimSqunts I, 1ll,andV), and that the prohibited
transaction claimsQounts Il, IV, and VI) areluplicative of the breach claimBSor the following
reasons, the Cougrantsthe motionas to allcounts.

BACKGROUND ?

The Plan participantisring this action, individually and as representatives iirported
class as beneficiaries in the Universityf dennsylvania Matching PlarfRlari’), against the
University of Pennsylvania ants Vice President of Human Resourcés, breach of fiduciary
duties under 29 U.S.(8 1132(a)(2).They allege three main failures of the defendants. First,
they claim that the defendants breached their fiduciary dutiidmking in’ Planinvestment
options into two investment companieSmended Complaintf[f 184-95 liereinafter “Am.
Compl.”). Secondthey claim that the administrative services and fees wemeagonably high
due to the defendantfailure to seek competitivebids to decrease administrative cosfésn.
Compl. 1 196-209.Third, they argue that the fiducias chargedinnecessaryeeswhile the
portfolio underperformedAm. Compl. 9 210-28 Plaintiffs seek to certify a class encompassing
all participants and beneficiaries of the Plan from August 10, 2010, throughtéhefgudgment,
excluding the defendants. Am. Compl. § 237.

l. Defendant’ § 403(b) Program

Defendard’ §403(b) Plan is a defined contribution, individual account, employee

pension benefit plaras definedunder 29 U.S.C88 1002(2)(A)and (34) that provides for

retirement income benefits for certain employees of the University osileania.Am. Compl.

% In a motion to dismiss, the Court “must consider only those facts alleged in the coamisautcept all of
the allegations as trideALA, Inc. v. CCAIR, In¢c29 F.3d 855, 859 (3d Cir. 1994). The facts discuss#dsn
Memorandum are takeas true from the complaint and documents referenced within the complaint.
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19. 1t is funded through deferrals of employee compensation, employer contributions, and
investment performancaet of fees and expenseAm. Compl. | 11. At the end 0f2014, the
Plan had $3.8 billion in net assets and 21,412 participants, makingitg tie largest 0.02% of
defined contribution plans in the United States based on total assets. Am. Compl. § 12.

There are generally two main costs assodiateith investment accountsplan
administrationand investmentoptions management. Am. Comg.35. Pan administration
includes the use otcordkeepersntitiesthattrack the amount of each participaninvestments
in various options in the plaRRecordkeepergsually provide participants with quarterly account
statementsa website, call center, amavestment education materials. Am. Com{.49-41.A
recordkeepés fee is often partially covered by‘revenue shariigagreementsin revenue
sharing arrangements, a mutual fund it§edther than the participanpays a portion of these
expensesThe Plan at issue here operates on a revenue sharing maghelCompl.q 119.The
second main cost associated with investment accounts is investment options reahagem
Investment optiongliffer by offering different share classe%Retail sharé classes argeared
toward small investments, wheréaastitutional sharé classe are aimed at large investments
Investment companieBope to persuade large plans to investheseinstitutional funds by
charging lower fees. Am. Comg.45.The same way big box chains like Costzguably can
offer savings over the local convenience store by selling in bulk, institutibaeg¢soffer fee
savings fobulk investments.

ERISA requires each plan to have one or more named fiduciaridsatiehe authority
to operate and administédre plan. 29 U.S.(8 1102(a)(1)The Planat issue heres managed by
an investment committee, designated by the Trustees of the University of Ranizgsgs a

named fiduciary, responsible for tliselection, monitong, and removal of Plan investment
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options and providersAm. Compl.§ 21.Jack Heuens theVice President of Human Resources
is also a named fiduciary under the plan and designated as the Plan Administratoriesioons
“Planrelated mattefsincluding “establishing rules and procedures for the 'Blaperatior.
Am. Compl. § 23.

Employees (the beneficiariesr participantsof the plan) may opt into the Plan, lag in
all §403(b) plans, they are limited imherethey can investThe Plan managers determitine
rangeof optionsavailable to the beneficiariessho thenchoose where themoney isplaced
The University of Pennsylvania, as manager of one of the largest funds in the countty, has
diversearray ofbeneficiaries to seey from grounds and cleaning crews to renowned Wharton
Schooland Law professors physicists, anthropologists, hockey coaches and endless.bthers
Theseindividuals have different goals, risk tolerances, investment acumen and income.

To make it easier fopotential investors, plan managers diddke investment options
(which ranged between67and 118 options) into foutiers Motion to Dismiss ljereinafter
“Mot.”) Ex. 6* Tier 1is for the“do it for me investor;tier 2 is geared toward tHéelp me do
it” investor; tier 3is designed for thémix my owri investor; and tier 4is built for the“self
directed investor.Mot. Ex. G In eachof these plans, optiorare presented to the beneficiaries
from TIAA -CREF and Vanguardhe two companies used in the Plan. The options range from

one option from each company in thelo it for mé category tocomplete customizatioof

% Of cour, the Court does not hazarduess about the investment acumen or even instincta fymod dedlof
anyone oranycampus—or Court for that ma¢r—anywhere.

* Plaintiffs argue that this exhibit cannot properly be considered at this stage afdbeding. Plaintiffs’
Opposition to Defendant#lotion to DismissPoc. No. 36 fereinafterOpp.) at 13.12. A“court may

consider an undisputedly authentic document that a defendant attaches as an exhitiioto @ dismiss if

the plaintiff s claims are based on the docunielgension Benefit Guar Corp. v. White Consol. Ing888

F.2d 1192, 1196 (3d Cir. 1993). Plaintiffs do not dispute thlgeaticity of any exhibits attached to the motion
to dismiss, only that they are not referenced in the conipEathibit 6 (the array of options given to plan
participants) was incorporated by reference in the Amended Complaint, and theaefpreperiyjbe
consideredSeeAm. Compl. 1 132 (“Defendants provided a dizzying array of duplicative funds in the same
investment styleto participants causiriggecision paralysfg.
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available options in tier 4. Mot. Ex. .6Beneficiariesare informed that each mutual fuisd
prospectuds available online. Mot. Ex. 3. Thewre given detailed statistics on each of the
investment options, including 1, 5 and 10 year returns, as well as total operating eXgense
Ex. 3

Since 2010, the Plan has offered as many as 118 investment options,cdiideaember
31, 2014, the Plan offered 78 optiodsn. Compl. I 77. Vanguard Group, Inc. manages 48
mutual fund options (totaling $1.3 billion) and TIABREF manageshe other 30 options
including mutual fundsand fixed and variable annuitie@otaling .5 billion). Am. Compl.
1977, 79. The Plan includes multiple recordkeepers; Vanguard and-CRR&F each serve as
the recordkeeper for their respective offerings. Am. Compl.  78.

Il. Plaintiff s’ Claims

The Amended Quplaint includes seven claimsrdach offiduciary duties for locking
the Plan intdhe CREFstockaccount and TIAA recordkeeping, in violation of 29 U.$0.104
(@)(1) (Count I); breach of fiduciaryutles for unreasonable administrative fees, in violation of
29 U.S.C8 114 (a)(1) (Count II); breach of fiduciary gties for unreasonable fees in violation
of 29 U.S.C.§81104a)(1) (Count V); and failure to monitor fiduciaries (Count VIThe
plaintiffs allegethat these actiorslsoviolate the”prohibited transactiorisclause of ERISA29
U.S.C. 8§ 1106(a)(1) (Counts 11, IV & VI).

DISCUSSION
l. Standard of Review

A Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss tests the sufficiency of a complaint. Although Rule 8

of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure requires dalyshort and plain statement of ttlaim

showing that the pleader is entitled to religied. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2)to ‘give the defendant fair
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notice of what the. .claim is and the grounds upon which it ré&the plaintiff must provide
“more than labels and conclusions, and a foamukcitation of the elements of a cause of action
will not do.” Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007) (citation omittédieration

in original).

To survive a motion to dismiss, the plaintiff must plé&ttual content that allows the
court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the duisicabeged.
Ashcroft v. Igbgl 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). Specificaltyflactual allegations must be enough
to raise a right to relief above the speculative |évBlvombly 550 U.S. at 555. The question is
not whether the claimaritwill ultimately prevail. . . but whether his complaint [is] sufficient to
cross the federal coustthreshold. Skinner v. Switzeb62 U.S. 521, 5302011) (citation and
internal quotation marks omitted). Thus, assessment of the sufficiency of a conmplaant
contextdependent exercisdecausé[sjJome claims require more factual explication than others
to state a plausible claim for reliefV. PennAllegheny Health Sys., Inc. v. UPM&27 F.3d 85,

98 (3d Cir. 2010).

In evaluating the sufficiency of a complaint, the Court adheres to certdinewegnized
parameters. For one, the Cotimust consider only those facts alleged in the complaint and
aceept all of the allegations as truéLA, Inc. v. CCAIR, In¢c29 F.3d 855, 859 (3d Cir. 1994);
see alsofwombly 550 U.S. at 555 (stating that courts mtestsum[e] that all the allegations in
the complaint are true (even if doubtful in fagtMayer v.Belichick 605 F.3d 223, 230 (3d Cir.
2010) ([A] court must consider only the complaint, exhibits attached to the complaintygnatte
of public record, as well as undisputedly authentic documents if the complaictaims are
based upon these documéptdAlso, the Court must accept as true all reasonable inferences

emanating from the allegations, and view those facts and inferences in thedgjliaworable to
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the nonmoving partySeeRocks v. City of Philadelphi®68 F.2d 644, 645 (3d Cir. 198%ge

alsoRevell v. Port Auth598 F.3d 128, 134 (3d Cir. 2010).

That admonition does not demand that the Court ignore or discount reality. The Court
“need not accept as true unsupported conclusions and unwarranted infe@ogg<zrant, Inc.
v. Greate BayCasino Corp. 232 F.3d 173, 1884 (3d Cir. 2000) (citations and internal
guotation marks omitted), arfdhe tenet that a court must accept as true all of the allegations
contained in a complaint is inapplicable to legal conclusions. Threadbare recitesetéments
of a cause of action, supported by mere conclusory statements, do not”sAiveroft 556
U.S. at 678;see alsoMorse v. Lower Merion Sch. Distl32 F.3d 902, 906 (3d Cir. 1997)
(explaining that a court need not accept a plaistifbald assertiorisor “legal conclusior’s
(citations omitted)).fla claim*“is vulnerable to 12(b)(6) dismissal, a district court must permit a
curative amendment, unless an amendment would be inequitable of fitildips v. County of

Allegheny 515 F.3d 224, 236 (3d Cir. 2008).

Il. Fiduciary Duty Under ERISA
Both sides agree thdahe defedants are fiduciaries to the plaintiffs under the Plan.
ERISA imposes théprudent man standard of cdr&9 U.S.C.8 1104(a).This requires the
fiduciary to

(1) ... dscharge his duties with respect to a plan solely in the interest of thepaauts
and beneficiaries ard
(A) for the exclusive purpose of:
(i) providing benefits to participants and their beneficiaries; and
(i) defraying reasonable expensesdministering the plan;
(B) with the care, skill, prudence, and diligence under the circumstances then
prevailing that a prudent man acting in a like capacity and familiar with such

® Plaintiffs filed a complaint on August 8, 201Bdc. No. 1). Following the defesg s initial motion to dismiss
on October 28, 201®pc. No. 25), Plaintiffs filed an amended complaint on November 21, 2046, No.

27). Defendants filed a new motion to dismiss on January 5, PaicZNo. 33) and that motion is the subject
of thismenorandum. The parties took the offered opportunities for oral argument and supplementg. briefi
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matters wouldise in the conduct of an enterprise ofka Icharacter andith like
aims.
29 U.S.C. 8§ 1104).

“The fiduciary standard idlexible, such that the adequacy of a fiduciaryndependent
investigation and ultimate investment selection is evaluated in light of the charattamasnof
the particular type of plan reerves’ Renfrq 671 F.3d at 322 (quoting re Unisys Sav. Plan
Litig. (Unisys ), 74 F.3d 420, 434 (3d CiflL996)).An ERISA fiduciary acts prudently when it
gives“appropriate consideration to those facts and circumstances that, given the saoge of
fiduciary s investment duties, the fiduciary knows or should know are relevant to. the
investment course of action involved..” Renfrq 671 F.3d at 322 (quoting 29 C.F.R.

8 2550.404ax(b)(1)(i)). Accordingly, in evaluating a questioned decision, courts focus tpon t
fiduciary s “conduct in arriving at [that] investment decisioklhisys | 74 F.3d at 434.

The Supreme Court hésften noted that an ERISA fiduciasyduty is'derived from the
common law of trust8. Tibble v. Edison In, 135 S.Ct. 1823, 1828 (201x)quoting Central
States, Southeast and Southwest Areas Pension Fund v. Central Transpaf72nd.S. 559,

570 (1985)). In administering the trust the trustee may perform or fail to perform an act that
results in loss to thieust beneficiaries. He is only liable when his conduct causing the losd fail
to conform to the standard of care and skill applicable to trustees in the adationsdf trusts’
GEORGE BOGERT ET AL LAW OF TRUSTS AND TRUSTEES § 541, (3d ed. 2009) June 2017
Updats.

“A determination of what is due care or appropriate skill depends upon the
circumstances of time and place as they appeared at the time the trustee took thm action
guestion|[, but t]here is no fixed formula which enables the coutétermine what is due care

under all circumstancésld. In evaluating the effectiveness of an ERISA fiduciappligations,
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“the range of investment options and the characteristics of those included-eqitidasling the
risk profiles, investment strateg, and associated feeare highly relevarit factors. Renfrq
671 F.3dat 327. The touchstone of an effective ERISA defined contribution plan isaffér[s]
participants meaningful choices about how to invest their retirement sévithgSuch a dutyo
offer choice is more pronounced in plans as large as ®enhich serves a broad array of needs
and desires.

1. Breach of Fiduciary Duty Claims (Countsl, Ill, & V)

Theissues in this cagarimarily rise and fall withthe inquiry ofwhether the defendants
breached their fiduciary duty to the plaintiffs, and such an inguust begin witlRenfra

A. Renfrov. Unisys Corp.

In Renfro v. Unisys Corp retirement savings plan participants filed a putative class
action against their employer for breadhfiduciary duty under ERISA. 671 F.3d 314 (3d Cir.
2011). The breach of duty allegedRenfrowas similar to the case at hand. The putative class
challenged‘the selection and periodic evaluation of the Unisys defined contributiors ptar
and range oinvestment optiorisin a8 401(k) plan.ld. at 32526. In upholding the dismissal of
the claim, the Third Circui€ourt of Appealseld that courts must look to themix and range of
options and . . evaluate[] the plausibility of claims challenging fund selection against the
backdrop of the reasonableness of the mix and range of investment ddtorst.326. Under
that framework, the Court concluded that in light of the available optiarisch included 73
investments witlieesranging from 0.10% to 1.21%plaintiffs had”provided nothing more than
conclusory assertioh®f fiduciary breactand affirmed dismissal of the case. at 32728. This
standard stops plan participants from seeguéssing glan fiduciarys investment decisions

just because they lose mon&yhile allowing plan participants latitude to bring suit for improper
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managementlt requires plaintiffs to show more than just a single-gptimality in a given
mutual fund. Instead,they mustshow systemic mismanagement such that individuals are
presented with a Hobs@choice betweea poorlyperforming8 401(k)portfolio or no 8401(k)

at all.

This still allows multiple avenues for plaintiffs to challenge a breach of fiduciary duty. A
plaintiff can allege an inadequdtamix and range of optiofidy alleging insufficient choice, that
all (or the vast majority of) options breach the fiduciary datyinsufficient variety among the
range of optionsor a kickback scheme where the fiduciaries directly beatfihe expense of
plan participantsSeeRenfrq 671 F.3d 314(insufficient mix and range; lack of optionsiecker
v. Deere & Cq, 556 F.3d 575 (7th Cir. 2009assuming insufficient variety among investment
vehicles gives rise to a claimBraden v. WaMart Stores, Ing 588 F.3d 585 (8th Cir. 2009)
(endorsed by thdRenfro court for its denial of dismissal due to allegations okiekback
scheme)At the same time, it effectively discharges Condrésareful balancing of the need for
prompt and fair administration“against the public interest in encouraging the formation of
employee benefit plarisPilot Life Ins. Co. v. Dedeau®81 U.S. 41, 42 (1987).

B. The Renfro Standard and § 403(b)

At issue in this case ar®403(b) tax plans, the negurofit analogue to the far more
common #01(k) tax retirement plans used bypte companiesRenfroand other similar cases
have dealt with & 401(k) retirement plan, we the Planhereis a 8 403(b) tax advantaged
retirement plan. Whil& 401(k) and8 403(b) plans have different historical roots and historical
structures thaddemanddifferent fiduciary duties for administrators, those differences have
largely eroded over time. Today, the obligatiorbeheficiaries and fiduciaries 401(k) and

8 403(b) plans areearly identical

10
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ERISA was enacted in 1974 ahe growth in size, scope, and numbers of employee
benefit plans became“rapid and substantial,necessitating federal intervention to create a
comprehensive enforcement mechanism. 29 U.8$10D01(a). As retirement systems began to
take shapén America in the late 1800s,dte were few protections for employe€shere was
no federal law applicable to such plans, and under state law, such plans were geryznalld
as nonbinding expressions of the employgmesent intent to make a future gift to aged
employees.AMERICAN BAR ADMINISTRATION, EMPLOYEE BENEFITSLAW 1-1 (3rd Ed. 2012).

The moderrday understanding of retirement plans did not begin to take shape until the
income taxlegislationwas enacted in 1913, forcing the government to give special status to
pension plans in the Revenue Acts of 1921 and 1BR6at 14. This special statuked to
patchwork legislation about how the plans could be used and adminidtéred. 15. The
economic boom of postar Americacreateda dramatic rise in retirement pland. at 1-8.
Employee benefits plans increased in size and scope astsai¢s keeppaceby passing their
own regulationsAs companies and unions operated @agingly across state lines, they were
forcedto “deal with different and sometimes inconsisteatestaws 1d.

By the 1960s, a national consensarguably formed that retirement funds needed
comprehensive regulatiold. at 1-9. As the*inadequacy of current minimum standdrdscame
apparentconcerns aroshat“the soundness and stability of plans with respect to adequate funds
to pay promised benefits may be endangér@d U.S.C.81001(a). In response to these
concerns,Congress enacte&RISA in 1974 to provide a comprehensive mechanism for
regulating nationwide taadvantaged retirement planEMPLOYEE BENEFITS LAwW at 22.
“ERISA's detailed provisions set forth a comprehensive civil enforcement scheme that

represents a careful balancing of the need for prompt and fair claims sattlprocedures

11



Case 2:16-cv-04329-GEKP Document 56 Filed 09/21/17 Page 12 of 23

against the public interest in encouraging themation of employee benefit plahRilot Life,
481 U.Sat 42

Despite the uniform language of ERISAyverage 6f a plan under ERISA (i.e., the labor
provisions) is unrelated to the tax status of that plan under the”@ae.OYEE BENEFITSLAW
at 25. This is because tax advantaged retirement plans are created and auahitiisteigh the
IRS under a different (more dynamic) chapter of the U.S. Code than the one ttest ERESA.
Compare29 U.S.C.8 1001et seq.(ERISA) with 26 U.S.C.8 401et seq.(tax). Over the years,
Congress has amended Chapter 26 (and the IRS has suppleinemtiedegulations) such that
the taxadvantaged retirement plans we know today are a far cry from those in place when
ERISA was enactecbeee.g, 26 C.F.R. 8 1, 31, 54 (2007) (promulgating rules under the IRS
regardingg 403(b) plans).

Initially, 8 403(b) and8 401(k) plans differed dramatically in both scope and structure.
Sectiond03(b) plans initially were limited to annuity contracts (which function likgeasion,
paying a fixed amount for the remainder of the pesdifetime) and pralated§ 401(k) plans
by nearly20 years.See e.g, Technical Amendments Act of 1958, Pub. L. No-8®, 823, 72
Stat 1606 (1958joutlining the requirements for tax advaged8 403(b) accounts)While still
governed by ERISA, these salient differences resulted in different managante fiduciary
requirements, since the duties by a fiduciary to an annuity contraetsdiffamatically from the
duties of a fiduciary managing mutual fun@uver the years§ 403(b) plans have moved away
from annuity offerings to offer a range of options that are nearly identicabge toffered by
8401(k) plans, such as the plan at issue hievday, the fiduciary requirements [§y403(b)plan
administrators are nearly identical to those requirement§ 46x1(k) administrators, especially

with respect to their duties to plan beneficiaries.

12
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ERISA's fiduciary duty standard does not differentiate betw&é3(b) and§ 401(k)
plans. Rather, it defines a blanket fiduciary duty standaRISA “aims‘to providea uniform
regulatory regime over employee benefit plaims order to ease administrati burdens and
reduce employerosts’ Nat'l Sec. Sys., Inc. v. 10l§00 F.3d 65, 82 (3d Cir. 201@mphasis
added (quotingAetna Health Inc. v. Davil&42 U.S. 200, 208 (2004 Because of the modern
day similarity between the two retirement plans and the historical roots of ERAl to
create a uniform regulatoigystem for retirement plans, the analysis of the fiduciary standards
for 8§ 403(b) and§ 401(k) retirement plans must be the same. Reafroreasoningland other
interpretations o8 401(k) cases) therefore serve as a guiding light for analyzinditieeent
theories advanced by the plaintiffs.

C. Claim I: Locking the Plan into CREF Stock Accounts and TIAA Recordkeeping

The plaintiff s first claim is that byallowing TIAA-CREF to mandate the inclusion of

the CREF Stock Account and Money Market Account enRthari the defendantsommitted the
plan to an“imprudent arrangement in which certain investments had to be included and could
not be removed from the plaeven if the investmentsnderperformedAm. Compl.J 187.In
support of this assertion, Plaintiffs point to recent Supreme Court didiabie v. Edison Ink,
135 S.Ct. 1823, 1829 (2015). There, tReurt noted (while addressing a statute of limitations
question) that'under trust law, a fiduciary normally has a continuing duty of some kind to
monitor investments and remove imprudent dndd. at 1828-29. However, the Court
“express[ed] no view on the scope of responddialisciary duty and remanded the case to the
Ninth Circuit.Id. at1829.

Such aquibble overTibbles applicallity misses the fact tha¢ven assuming the dicta is

binding the plaintiffs complaintherefails to allege conducthat violates theTibble principle.

13



Case 2:16-cv-04329-GEKP Document 56 Filed 09/21/17 Page 14 of 23

The only fact that the plaintiffs have pled is that the defenddmtked i the Plan to TIAA
CREF. Am. @mpl. §187. This, standing alone, is insufficient to create a plausible inference that
this was a breach of fiduciary duty. Locking in rates and plans is a copractrceused across

the business and personal world. Companies often offer better terms to induce rsusthoek

in” for a longer period Cable companies offer discounts for signingwa-year contract,
landlordsoffer cheaper rates for longer leasasd cell phone companies give free phones for
signing a tweyear agreement. Often timescking in a plan for atatedperiod is better for all
sides because customers save money with the discount offered by the compaoy @ardes

save money by eliminating the costs associated with customer acquisition wihilg ba
arguably reliable income stream to rely on.

The plaintiffs’ claim that thisviolates the defendant§duciary duty does not meet the
plausibility threshold. As infwombly the actions arat least “just as much in line with a wide
swath of rational and competitive busisedrategy in the marketas they are with a fiduciary
breachBell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly550 U.S. 544, 554 (2009).

D. Claim Ill: Unreasonable Administrative Fees

Plaintiffs next claim that Bfendants allowed TIAACREF and Vanguard to charge
unreasonabl@dmnistrative fees in two ways=irst, allowing TIAA-CREF and Vanguard to
operate as their own recordkeepg@ather than comdidatingall funds witha singular thirgparty
recordkeeperksupposedlyincreased feesAm. Compl. { 107. Secondplaintiffs claim that the
plan administrators should have arranged a flafppeson fegather thaman “assetbased fee

Am. Compl. § 99.

® This Count fails to meet the requirements under Rule 12(b)(6), so the Court need not addpesstitre of
whether the claim is timbarred under 29 U.S.C. § 1113(1).

14
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1. Multiple Recordkeepers

The argument that TIAACREF and Vanguard operated as their own rdemples fails
in the face of the sanrealities discussedbove. Bundling of services ot inconsistent with
lawful, free market behavior in the best interests of those involved, including danes.
Companies, for example, ofteibundle” phone service in with the more popular cable and
internet services, even when the users do not want a landritigose instances, it is still a
rational selinterestedaction to purchase the bundle because the other equipment is worth the
pricefor the consumereven withthe unnecessaiyr undesird product or feeHere, it is rational
to comply with Vanguard requirement that they serve as recordkeeper if that is required to gain
access to thdesiredvanguard portfolioJust as the actions ihwomblywere “consistent with
conspiracy, but just as much in line with a wide swath of ratiaalons, so too are the actions
here—perhapsconsistent with fiduciary breach, bailiso well in line with a wide swath of other
rational actionsTwombly 550 U.S. at 554

But even if this were not true, ttErgumentalso failsasa factual matter becausigere is
a reasonablérange of investment options with a variety of risk profiles and fee.td&esfrq
671F.3d at327. Here, théees rangdérom 0.04% t00.87%, markedlylower thanthe 0.10% to
1.21%at issue irRenfra Mot. at 1£12. The plan offered.7 investment options with fees lower
than the lowest fees iRenfro(0.10%) and only one plan abo®&7%. Mot. at 12. With such
low fees, it is noinevitableto say that recordkeeping fees were unnecessarily aggecially
when there are rational bundling reasomsaliow separate recordkeepers. Even if theeee
cheaper options available for recordkeeping fees, ERi@Adates that fiduciaries consider
options besidescost. Fiduciaries must balan¢groviding benefits to participants and their

beneficiaries and “defraying reasonable expenses of administering the.”p2& U.S.C.
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§1104(a)(1).Without plausiblypleading that these two options were not met, a plaintiff cannot
state a claim for relief.

2. AssetBased v. Flat eeCharges

The gaintiffs next claim that the plan administrators breached their fiduciary duty by
allowing recordkeepers to chardgexcessive ass#iased fees rather than cheapetper
participant fees.Am. Compl. 7 108.

Thisis a pure question of where the buraémecordkeeping costhould be placeda
guestionopen to the discretion of a reasonable plan administrator. In flgtgogcipant fee
systems, the burden is disproportionately placed on the lower income andihnvestment
individuals to subsidize higher income individuals. In the asaséd model, individuals must
pay a pro rata share based their investments, placing the burden disproportionately on the
higher income individualsi-or example, in a flat feeystem, a young individual with only a
$10,000 balance would pay the same as an older individual who has invested longer with a
$100,000 balance. If there is a flat fee of $44, both parties would pay the same price, but a
different pecentage of their totadccount:the young investor would pay 0.44% of her account
balance, while the older investor would pay @%4of the account balance. However, if there is
a fee of 0.08%f asset valugthe young investor pays only $8, while the older investor pays $80.
In both instances, the fees collectedthe recordkeeper are the same dnltecteddifferently
among plan beneficiaries.

The plan administrators are fiduciarieseteery plan member, whethshe invest$10 or
$10 million. It is not up to courts to secegdesshow fiduciaries allocate that cost, only that the
fiduciary “discharge his duties with respect to a plan solely in the interest of thepaatscand

beneficiaries as a whole29 U.S.C.8§ 11046)(1). To the extent that this argument claims the
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arrangement increased fees, it fails on the same reasoning asthbovardawful explanations
for such an arrangement, and the plaintiffs need somethingth®re claim that themaay be
(or even ae) cheaper options availableh& plaintifis must show that there were no reasonable
alternatives given to plan paniants to choose from, which the plaintiffs have not .pled
Renfrqg 671 F.3d at329 (holding that affording a reasonable mix of plan options to participants
was sufficient to meet the fiduciary standard).

E. Claim V: Unreasonable Investment Management Fees; Unnecessary Marketing

Distribution, Mortality and Expense Risk Fees; and Performance Losses

The plaintiffs next claim a litany afogly measures that they claim amount to a breach of
fiduciary duty, including unnecessary fees, duplicative investments, retentibighadr cost
funds, retention of underperforming funds, and poor performance relative to the market. A
Compl. 1 21023. These claims broadly break down itliceecategories(1) unnecessary fegs
(2) participant confusion, an@) poor market performance.

1. Unnecessary fees

A variant on the argument abovthdt a necessary fee arrangement could have been
cheaper) thelaintiffs also point to a number of charged fees that they claim were gsaegcer
duplicative.SeeAm. Compl. 9 211-23.The majority of theséexcessive féeargumentdail to
state a clainbecausdghe mix and range of fee options included fees as low as 0.04%, which
neither side claims is excessivihe strongest argument advanced by the plasnsfthat the
plan containedretail class shares, rathghan other identical optionsith lower fees, known as
“institutional clas$ shares.Am. Compl. 9 12130. Retail shares are generally available to

regular market participants who have small investments, while institutionalssasgeonly
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available to larger institutionsith more bargaining powemndlargercapital poolsAm. Compl.
121 Mot. at -18.

The plaintiffs overstate their argument. While some shawrélse Planare retail shares
that could be replaced with institutional shamesarlyhalf of the shares3{ of 78) arealready
these loweffee funds. Mot. Ex. 3The plaintiffs argumentalso ignores that these institutional
class sharesvould only beavailable if significantly more money were funneled into each of
them! Switching from retail to institutional shares is not a matter of checking a diffleoenit
requires fiduaaries to balance the menu of options given to plan beneficiaries against the fees.
Sometimesjnstitutional shares are unavailable as an opbecause investment levels are too
low in that fund But thes€’institutional investment vehiclgalso] come with a drawback: lower
liquidity.” Loomis v. Exelon Corp658 F.3d 667, 672 (7th Cir. 2011). While retail funds allow
daily transfers, where participants can withdraw money without f@gastitutional trusts and
pools do not offer that choiceld.

The paintiffs’ argument that fiduciaries must maintairmgopic focus on the singular
goal of lower fees wasoundly rejected iflRenfra 671 F.3d aB27. ERISArequires fiduciaries to
balance providing benefits to participaritsvith “defrayingreasonable expenses the plan 29
U.S.C. § 1104(a)(13). The plaintiffsherehave notpled that these reductions in expenses could
be achievedvithout changinghe variety of benefits to participaniBhese same considerations
motivatedthe Seventh Circug rejection ofidentical “institutional versugetail’ argumers.
Loomis 658 F.3d at 671-72ecker 556 F.3d at 580-8Plaintiffs haveonly pled that the failure
to replacethese shares was a breach of fiduciary duty, which is insufficient tdlpasgh the

12(b)(6) threshold.

" For example, the Vanguard Institutional Index Fund Institutional Shares reqgimitién minimum
investmentVanguard VINIX Share Mutual Fund Profile (2017).
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2. Participant Confusion

The plaintiffs next allege that defendahpsovided a dizzying array of duplicative funds
in the samanvestment style leading to* decision paralysisfor participants. Am. Compl.

9 132. This assertion is unsupported by thkeading The plaintiffs havenot alleged any
participant who was confused by the different options, an omissiomnhi#és owncauses the
amended complaint to fdib state a factual basis for the claim. Moreoves,glan administrators
broke the options down into four categories based on the participargstment acumen to help
guide themSee generallivot. Ex. 6. Offering 78 different choices is not an unreasonably high
number, especially with thetiered descptive guidance given to participantds a practical
matter, plan administrators stuoffer a sufficient amount of choice to participants, while not
overwhelming themto the pointparticipantscannotactually choose Providing 78 different
investment optins satisfies théreasonable mix and range of investment optiaeguired by
Renfrowithout being unduly overwhelming71 F.3d aB27.

The plaintiffs derivative claim namelythat offering duplicative fundsvasunnecessary
fails as well. On theontrary, duplicative investment options are necessary based on the structure
of the Plan. Each of the four tiers becomes progressively more complex fqogptanipants.
The “do it for mé tier (tier 1) ha only one option from each of the two providdrst had a
number of different underlying mutual funds or annuities in its umbiditd. Ex. 6.In contrast,
the“selfdirected plan (tier 4) allowed complete customization by participavits. Ex. 6.That
these tiers contained some of the same fundagarprising and raises no plausible inference of
a breach of fiduciary duty. Indeed, if there was no overlap there could be greaterfatause

criticism or frustration.
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3. Poor Market Performance

Finally, the plaintiffs claim that select funds wengperformed by the rest of the market,
claiming that 60% of the Pla®m investment options‘underperformed their respective
benchmarks over the previous/&ar period. Am. Compl.§ 151.To begin, here is no cause of
action in ERISA for“underperforming dnds.” The statutory text requires fiduciaries to
discharge their duti¢swith the care, skill, prudence, and diligenoeler the circumstances then
prevailing’ when theymake decisions29 U.S.C.8§ 1104(a)(1(B). (emphasis added). This
standardrequires ourts to look at the actions takey the fiduciaryat the timethat they took
those actionsSee e.g, Tussey v. ABB, Inc746 F.3d 327, 338 (8th Cir. 201&While it is easy
to pick an investment option in retrospect (buy Apple Inc. at $7 a share in Decemben@000 a
short Enron Corp. at $90 a share), selecting an investment beforehand is ditfieuRlan
administrator deserves discretion to the extengxtsintanvestment choices were reasonable
given what it knew at the time Sophisticated imestors and rank amateurs both look to buy low
and sell high and wonder why they did not have clear enough vision to see the path foodoing s
early enough to make their fortunes. Chagrin does not inexorably become a caeigmof

Moreover when examing closely, theplaintiffs’ claims do not withstand scrutin/
statistical sampling of funds would expéall things being equabalf of the funds to be above
benchmarks and half to be below benchmarks. Here, as opposbdttthesimplistic statistical
average would show, that 38 (half) of the 76 funds underperformed, the plaintiffs pld® that
investment options performed below benchmarks. Am. Cofinphl.Sucha post hocanalysis
of market performancgevhere only 7 more funds underperformed thanld/de expectednay

be consistent with a breach of fiduciary duty, but does not show that the plaintiffhbdged
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their claims across the Bnfrom conceivable to plausiBleand “their complaint must be
dismissed. Twombly 550 U.S. at 570.
V. Prohibited Transaction Claims
Plaintiffs recast the same arguments above as violating the prohibited ticarssalause
of ERISA, § 1106(af.This clause states that:
[A] fiduciary with respect to a plan shall not cause the plan to engage in a ti@msi&c

he knows or should know that such transaction constitutes a direct or indirect —
(A) sale or exchange, or leasing, of any property between the plan and aparty i

interest. . .

(C) furnishing of goods, services, or facilities between the plan and party
interest;

(D) transfer to, or use by or for the benefit of a party in intecdsiny assets of
the plan. . .

29 U.S.C. § 1106(a)(1)

This prohibited transaction requirement in ERISA imposes an additional duty on
fiduciaries not to engage in dealsing theplan assets and ‘garty in interest. A party in
interest is defined asinter alia, “a person providing services to such plaz® U.S.C.

8§ 1002(14)(B).The prohibited transactions provision supplements*tbendational [fiduciary]
obligatiori’ by prohibiting“plan fiduciaries from entering into certain transactions. Subsection
(a) erects a categorical bar to transactions between the plan‘padyain interestdeemed
likely to injure the plari. Nat'l Sec. Sys., Inc. v. [0l#00 F.3d 65, 82 (3d Cir. 2012Xee also
Reich v. Comptorg7 F.3d 270, 275 (3d Cir.1995).

Congress adopted the prohibited transactions provision of ERtSgrevent plans from
engaging in certain types of transactions that had been used in the past to bengfroes at
the expense of the plangarticipants and beneficiariesReich 57 F.3d at 275 (quoting

Commissioner of Internal Revenue v. Keystone Consolidated 16689).S. 152160 (1993).

& Defendants also claim that the prohibited transaction claims aréd&med. Mot. at 3Because the
“prohibitedtransactioh claims fail to state a claim, tl&ourt offersno opinion as to whether the claims were
timely.
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In the decades befoEERISA, plans couldengage in transactions with related parties so long as
the transactions weréarmslength.” Unfortunately, this rule was difficult to police and thus
‘provided an open door for abuséy plan trustees.ld. Congress amended ERISAvith the

goal of creating a categorical bar to certain types of transactions that weckedegarlikely to
injure a plan.’Reich 57 F.3dat 275?

The plaintiffs seek recovery under this section of ERISA under the theory that the
contractual arrangement witHAA -CREF and Vanguard constituted a prohibited transaction.
This cannot be corred®laintiffs argue that paying these companies conssitusale of property
under 81106(a)(1)(A), a furnishing of services un@t106(a)(1)(C), and a transfer of assets
the plan undeg 1106(a)(1)(D). If such an argument were trlienany time plan administrators
contracted with another party to provide services to plan participargschange for money
(which includes the basic elements of retirement plans, imgudaking mutual funds available
or recordkeping services)t would qualify as a prohibited transaction. After all, fees charged by
these companiesiecessarilyrequires “transfer of assets.Plaintiffs claim this all while
maintaining that there are mper seERISA violations in the revenue sharing arrangemgae

generally Am. Compl.;See alspOpp. at 34.

Perhaps Plaintiffs attempd balance orsuch an analytical tightrope becaulsey citeno
court that hakeen persuaded lsyich a novel argumeri¥loreover, the transactions at issue here
were not done “to benefit other parties at the expense of the pkatisipants and beneficiaries

but were simply operating expenses necessary to operate the plan on bethnaf pdén

° The Senate Report leading to the amendment to ERISA provided a (non-exhasstif@xamples of the
prohibited transactions the provision sought to stop: “lending funds without adequate sedusitgasonable
rate of interest to the creator of tHarp his family, or corporations controlled by him . . . payment of
excessive salaries, purchase of property for more than an adequate considalatiémreperty for less than
an adequate consideration, or any other transactions which result in a substeensedrdbf funds to such
individuals” S.Rep. No. 93383 (1974)reprinted in1974 U.S.C.C.A.N. 4890, 4903.
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beneficiariesReich 57 F3d at 275.While a kickback scheme suchtaat inBraden where the
fiduciaries are benefitting by engaging in these transactions, may b@&aadtiounder the
prohibited transactions provisiorhet plaintiffs must plead that there is'subjective intento

benefit a party in interestld. at279. They have not done dere The plaintiffs attempts to
shoehorn their fiduciary duty claims into the protad transaction provisiosimply fail as a

matter of law.

CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, the motion to dismiss is granted. Counts | throughthél of
complaint are dismissed pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(fg(&nilure to state a claim upon
which relief can be granted.

An appropriate Order follows.

BY THE COURT:

S/Gene E.K. Rtter
GENE E.K. PRATTER
United States District Judge
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